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This Palace was built in circa 1636 by Thirumalai

Nayak (1623-1659) the greatest of Nayak rulers of Madurai.
This palace is considered the most marvellous secular build-
ing south of Bombay. According to tradition Thirumalai Nayak
is said to have had the help of an Italian Architect in design-
ing this building.

The building that we see today was the main palace
building, where Thirumalai lived. But it is believed that the
original palace complex was four times bigger than what it is
today. The grand palace as built by Thirumalai consisted
mainly of two parts, namely Swargavilasa and Rangavilasa.

Besides these two royal residences, there were a the-
atre, a palace shrine, queen’s apartments, an armoury, a
building for housing palanquines, royal bandstand, quarters
for relatives and servants, a pond, gardens etc., The wholc
was enclosed by walls on all the four 51de&

The enclosure walls are said to have survived till a
hundred years ago, when they were pulled down as they were
badly dilapidated. The enclosure called Pan Madil, was 900
feet in length East-West and 660 feet in width North-South,
and 40 feet in height. To the west of this enclosure, there was
a flower garden with a pavilion in the centre.

MAIN PALACE

The surviving building with a rectangular court yard in

the centre, flanked by huge and tall colonades was the main palace

portion. The Original entrance to the palace, was said to have
been to the North of the present building. The present entrance
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was repaired during the last century. The courtyard measures
160 feet East and West, by 100 feet North and South, surrounded
on all sides by arcades of very great beauty. The pillars which
support the arches are of stone, 40 feet in height and are joined
by foliated brick arcade of great elegance and design, carrying a
cornice and entabulature rising to upwards of 60 feet in height.
The whole of the ornamentation is worked out in the exquisitely
fine stucco called Chunnam or shell lime which is a characteristic
of Tamilnadu. On either side of the courtyard, are rectangular
pavilions, topped by finials, originally covered with gold.

SWARGAVILASA

On the West side of the court stands the Swargavilasa
i.e., celestial pavilion. It measures 235 feet from North to
South by 105 feet across. The large central dome is supported
by twelve columns enclosing a square 64 feet across. These
columns are first linked together by massive saracenic arches.
Four similar arches are then thrown across the corner and the
octagonal drum rises from these pierced by a clerestory.
Above this at the cornice 45 feet up, the octagon is changed
to a circle and the dome rises in the centre to 75 feet from
the floor. The celestial pavilion is approached by a flight of
steps guarded by sculptures of horse riders, now damaged.

An ancient description of the Palace in Tamil records that
“This pavilion is so constructed as to caust it to be said that in
no other country is there a court equal to it, by reason of its
splendid ornaments, their excellence, number, extent, curious
workmanship and great beauty. To the west, in the midst of a
great dome-shaped hall, is a square building of black stone,
inside which is a chamber made of ivory. In the middle of this 1s
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a jewelled throne, on which the king 1s accustomed to take
his seat at the great nine-nights festival surrounded by all his
banners or ensings of royalty, and before which all kings are

accustomed to do homage’.

'

This great Nayak ruler, instituted a number of special
festivals in the temple of Meenakshi, among which the Chitrai
festival was the most celebrated one. This festival used to last for
a number of days, in the eigth day of the festival .the goddess
used to be specially decorated and placed ina special pavilion of
the temple. The king would visit the temple and after special
worships, receive from the hand of the Goddess, the royal
sceptre (set with precious gems). The scepture would be brought
to the palace on the royal elephant accompanied by a great
procession. The sceptre would be placed on the throne and
would receive special worship from the hands of the king. The
dignatories, commanders, poets and other palace servants would
receive gifts and royal titles on the occassion. The sceptre will
remain enthroned in this celestial pavilion the whole day and after due
worship will be ruturned to the temple the next day. This
function was symbolic of the country being ruled by Goddess

Meenakshi, and the Nayak ruler administered the country as
a servant of the Goddess. This festival was continued even n

the 18® century by his successors, like Queen Mangammal.

NAVARATHRI FESTIVAL

The Nayak ruler used to hold the Navaratri (nine
night's) festival in the month of Purattasi (September) with greai
pomp. The king used to bedeck himself with costly Jewels a:d
@nnmtsmdbesemdinaudiminﬂﬂsceleﬁalmvﬂiononall
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the nine days. This was the occassion when the feudatories
used to pay tributes and present costly jewels and bring other
gifts to the king.

Besides, as a part of daily routine the king used to
appear in the evenings, in the courtyard when the palace guards
used to salute him, and show various feats with torches.

HAREM |

To the west of the Swargavilasa, the queens apartments
were located. In the south west may be seen a room, with black
polished columns supporting the roof. The queens used to hear
music and literary discourses in this portion during momings.

NATAKASALA

At the north-west comner of the building is placed the
splendid hall. The hall itself 1s 135 feet long by 68 feet wide
and 1ts height, to the centre of the roof is 70 feet. The roof
1S a pointed arch of brick work strengthened by granite ribs
springing from a double series one above the other of other
pointed arches supported on columns. Behind the upper series
of these arches runs a gallery.

One tradition says that this room was Tirumala’s sleeping
apartment and that his cot hung by long chains from hooks in the
roof. One night, says a favourite story, a Kallan made a hole in
the roof, swarmed down the chains and stole the royal jewels.
The king promised a jaghir to any one who would bring him the
thief, and the Kallan then gave himself up and claimed the
reward. The king gave him the jaghir and then promptly had him
beheaded. For many years this chamber was used as the
District Court.
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From an ancient record it is seen that this splendid
hall was used as (Natakasala, theatre), where the king
accompanied by his queens and guests, used to witness
dances in the evenings, performed by beautiful damsells
well versed in their arts. Now Archaeological Museum of
the Department is housed in this Majestic Hall.

PALACE SHRINE

To the north-east of it is a building which is tradition-
ally believed to have been the retiring apartment of the royal
personages.

But in all probability this is a part of the palace shrine
dedicated to Goddess Rajarajeswari and other Gods. This shrine
was richly carved with stone work and its dome and fimal were
covered with gold. Thirumalai Nayak used to offer worship to
Goddess Rajarajeswari and other Gods daily in the moming.

To the west of the theatre were an armoury, a pond, a
wrestler’s pavilion, a pavilion for cock fights, and servants

quarters;, all have since disappeared.

RANGAVILASA AND TEN PILLARS

Further north in a lane may now be seen ten tall pillars of
stones. Originally this portion was a part of the big palace. To the
west of these stood a palace similar to the celestial pavilion but
some what smaller This was called Rangavilasa. The ten pillars

that survive formed part of the courtyard of that palace. Thirumalai
Nayak’s younger brother, Muthialu Nayak resided there. To the
west of it were a harem of platform, called Chandrikai medai.

An entrance was provided in north, with an opening to
the present south Masi street. Here the palace guards were
stationed guarding the entrance. There was also a pavilion 1o

store their weapons.
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MAIN ENTRANCE AND NAUBATKHANA

To the east of ten pillars was the main entrance and a
pavilion where royal palanquins and other para phernalia were
placed. There was another pavilion housing 18 different kinds of
musical instruments that used to form part of the royal entourage.
These pavilions existed in a somewhat dilapidated form, till a
hundred years ago and were called Naubatkhana. “The
Naubatkhana, was so dilapidated in the fifties. that the American
mission declined to take it as a gift. It was then restored by
Mr. George Fischer for the use of a school and was taken by
Government in 1858 for the use of the new Zilla school.
When the new building for this latter was put up, the
Naubatkhana was used for sometime as the police head-
quarter office. It was eventually sold as being past repair and

the Patnulkaran’s primary school now occupies its site.

A part of the palace buildings, probably the Rangavilasa
and its adjuncts were pulled down by Thirumalai Nayak’s
grandson Chokkanatha Nayak in order to carry the meterials
to Trichy for erecting a palace there. Chokkanatha Nayak
made Thiruchi his capital and removed the throne, costly
jewels and other treasures there. Due to passage of time and
neglect a number of other parts disappeared. In the last
century, a part of the building to the west of the celestial
pavilion collapsed in a torrential rain.

LATER HISTORY OF THE PALACE

The Palace was an absolute ruin before the British acquired
the Madura country. It was utilised as barracks, and the Survey
Account of 1821 states that part of it was occupied then by a
paper factory, worked by convict labour. In 1837 Mr. Blackbume
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(then collector of Madurai) reported that it was used by the
weavers for their work and obtained leave to demolish the great
walls (40 feet hight, 900 feet long on the East and West and 660
feet on the North and South) which surmounded it and which
threatened to collapse. In 1857 it was stated that almost every
part of the building was so cracked as to be dangerous and that
the only really safe part of it was the inner cloister. The courts
of the District Judge, Sub-Judge Sadr Amin and Munsif were,
however, held in it and the Zilla school occupied the North-East
comner of the cloister. The amount required to restore the palace

was estimated at two lakhs. In 1858 hicavy rain @id much damage
and brought down the west wall of Thirumalai Nayakan’s bed
chamber and the Judge reported that portions of the building fell so
frequently that approach to his court was positively dangerous and
that the Sub-Judge and Munsif had to move elsewhere.

In 1858 Lord Napier, the then Governor of Madras,
wrote an emphatic minute on the necessity of restoring ancient
ruins in general and this palace in particular, and Mr. Chisholm,
the Government architect, was sent down to report on the
possibility of saving what remained of the building. His account
led the Govemment to decide to repair the palace to render it
suitable for the Revenue, Judicial and Municipal Offices of the
town, and a first Instalment of Rs. 10,000 for this purpose was
entered in the budget for 1870-71. Thereafter annual allotments
were made for continuing the work. Lord Napier took the
greatest personal interest in the matter and in 1871, after visiting
the palace, recorded an elaborate minute regarding the offices
which were to be located in it. By Rs. 2,13,000 had been spent.
[ron ties had been inserted to hold the structure together, the

ruined portions had been rebuilt or rendered safe, the plaster-
work and painting had been restored on the onginal lines and the
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entrance on the east side of the great court yard had been
surrounded with an omamental gateway. This entrance had
been cut through the solid brickwork in comparatively recent
times. Mr. Chisholm found evidence to show that the original
opening had been on the west, behind the three great domes.

Various public offices were than located in the restored
portions, and to accommodate them the cloisters were
partitioned off into sets of roocms with ugly dwarf walls
which quite spoilt their appearance. The next year a committee
of local officers settled the best methods of distributing the
remaining available space and much correspondence ensued
as to the desirability of placing the Collector’s Office in the
building. By 1886 a sum of Rs. 5,31,000 had been spent on
or sanctioned for the palace, and shortly afterwards the
Collecter’s Office was at length moved into it. The space
available was, however, found to be quite insufficient and
eventually 1t was removed back to its former quarters.

The District Courts continued to functions in the
building till 1970, when they were shifted to the new building.
Since 1971 the palace is preserved as a monument by the
Tamilnadu State Department of Archaeology. The palace is
kept open to the public from 9-00 am. to 5-00 p.m.
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